CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences Department of Animal Science and Food Processing



Influence of Lysine and Methionine on first antler growth in *Dama dama*

MASTER'S THESIS

Prague 2018

Author: Veit NY

Chief supervisor: doc. Francisco Ceacero Herrador, Ph.D.

Second (specialist) supervisor: Ing. Radim Kotrba, Ph.D.

Declaration

I hereby declare that I have done this thesis entitled Influence of Lysine and Methionine on first antler growth independently, all texts in this thesis are original, and all the sources have been quoted and acknowledged by means of complete references and according to Citation rules of the FTA.

In Prague, 27 April 2018

•••••

Veit NY

Acknowledgements

For most, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor **doc**. **Francisco Ceacero Herrador, Ph.D.** for his endless enthusiasm, motivation, support and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me with my research and writing of this thesis. He consistently allowed this report to be my own work, but steered me in the right direction whenever I need it. My equally gratefully expression to my co-supervisor **Ing. Radim Kotrba, Ph.D.** for his support in advising, cooperating and facilitating to help me deals with problems during my thesis.

My sincere thanks to relevant people, the owner of deer farm, Mr. Pavel Friedberger, for allowing me to be a part of this study and all help from his family and farm staffs. I am also thankful to Mr. Jamil Cappelli and all colleagues, for helping in analysis in lab in University of Castilla-La Mancha in Albacete, Spain. Many thank to my friends, Mechie and Pascal for their advice, endless love and encouragement.

I am grateful for the support of Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences – CULS Prague (IGA-20165008 and IGA-20175014) and by MZERO0717 (Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic).

I am also very thankful for the ALFABET project, the coordinators, for the financial support since the beginning that give me a chance to do this master.

Last but not least, I would like to thank to the orphanage, SOS Organization, my family and my mom in the organization for their support, endless love and encouragement to make me have this day.

Abstract

Amino acid supplementation in cervids is an almost unexplored research area. Very few studies have been conducted, and those were based on very low sample size leading to inconclusive results. In this study, we show the first trial on a large herd of fallow deer (Dama dama), and also the first one focusing on the effects on antlers. Lysine (Lys) and Methionine (Met) are the two amino acids considered as limiting for ruminants. Among them, Lys may have a good potential for antler growth as it is the main component of collagen and bone tissue precursor. However, several studies in other ruminants have shown greater effects when simultaneously supplementing Lys+Met. Two experiments based on Lys and Met supplementation during first antler growth were conducted during two consecutive years. Each experiment involved 45 yearling fallow bucks randomly distributed in three groups: Exp.1: Pasture, Pasture+Barley (0.2 kg per animal and day), and Pasture+Barley+Lys (5 g per animal and day); Exp.2: Pasture+Barley (0.5 kg per animal and day), Pasture+Barley+Lys (9 g per animal and day), and Pasture+Barley+Lys+Met (3 g per animal and day). The Lys (9 g) and Lys+Met treatments had a certain positive effects on the external antler characteristics and especially in the burr perimeter. In the second experiment, Cu content in the amino acids supplementation groups were lower than the control group, thus also no significant differences of the mechanical and structural properties. However, general mechanical properties and other chemical compositions tend to improve when more inclusive amino acids supplemented. Zinc was very low of all experimental groups. Therefore, amino acids could have direct effects on antler growth (lower Zn means that animals grow antlers with no physiological constraints). In general, the result suggests a more intense positive effect of amino acid supplementation in situations when the animals have a lower performance.

Key words: Antler structure; Body condition; Chemical composition; Fallow deer; Mechanical properties; Ruminally Protected Amino Acids.

Contents

Declaration
Acknowledgements
Abstract
Contents
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations
1. Introduction and Literature Review
1.1. Introduction 1
1.2. Fallow deer biology
1.3. Deer antler
1.3.1. Antlerogenesis
1.3.2. Antler composition
1.3.3. Factors affecting antler growth
1.3.4. Indicators of antler quality
1.4. Nutrition for deer
1.4.1. Digestive physiology and feeding behaviour of fallow deer 11
1.4.2. Nutrient requirement for deer 12
1.4.3. Nutrition for antler growth
1.4.4. Limitation of nutrient utilization in deer
2. Aims of the Thesis
3. Materials and Methods 19
3.1. Experimental design
3.1.1. Experimental site and animals
3.1.2. Feeding and supplementation
3.1.3. Culling
3.1.4. Antler collection
3.2. Mechanical and chemical analysis

3	.3.	Data analysis	24
4.	Rest	ılts	25
4	.1.	Effect of Lysine on antler growth in the first experiment (2015)	25
4	.2.	Effect of Lysine on antler growth in the second experiment (2016)	27
4	.3.	Effect of RPAAs between the two experiments	31
5.	Disc	ussion	32
6.	Con	clusions	35
Ref	erenc	es	36

List of tables

Т	able 1.	Experimental design along the two years, animals in each	
		experimental group and number of antlers analysed.	20
Т	able 2.	MANOVAs showing lack of significant differences of diet	
		supplementation with ruminally protected Lys on antler	
		characteristics of fallow deer yearlings (Experiment 2015).	25
Т	able 3.	Multivariate General Linear Models showing the effect of body	
		mass at the beginning of the experiment and treatment (different	
		diet supplementation regimes; see text) on the antler	
		characteristics of fallow deer yearlings in the first experiment	
		described (2015).	26
Т	able 4.	MANOVAs showing significant differences of diet	
		supplementation on antler characteristics of fallow deer yearlings	
		(Experiment 2016). Significant differences are highlighted in	
		bold.	27
Т	able 5.	Multivariate General Linear Models showing the effect of body	
		mass at the beginning of the experiment and treatment (different	

mass at the beginning of the experiment and treatment (different diet supplementation regimes; see text) on the antler characteristics of fallow deer yearlings in the second experiment described (2016).

30

List of figures

Figure 1.	Fallow deer (Dama dama) buck with hard antler.	2
Figure 2.	Fallow deer palmate antler extracted from Chapman (1975).	3
Figure 3.	Pedicle formation from frontal bone and velvet antler bone	
	extracted from Price et al. (2005).	5
Figure 4.	Changes in levels of testosterone during antler cycle extracted	
	from Bartos et al. (2012).	8
Figure 5.	Antler structure of compact bone and spongy bone extracted	
	from Chen et al. (2008).	10
Figure 6.	Yearling fallow deer bucks during velvet antler growth.	19
Figure 7.	Antler of both sides with identification number during drying.	22
Figure 8.	Antler burr perimeter (MEAN±SE) of the three experimental	
	groups in 2016.	28
Figure 9.	Level of Cu (MEAN±SE) of the three experimental groups in	
	2016.	29

List of the abbreviations used in the thesis

AA: Amino Acid ADG: Average daily gain CBA: Cortical Bone Area CBD: Cortical Bone Diameter CS: Concentrate selector GR: Grass eater H: Hypothesis IM: Intermediate feeder IUCN: International Union for Conservation of Nature RPAA: Ruminally Protected Amino Acids MJME/W: Mega Joule-Metabolisable energy per Weight

1. Introduction and Literature Review

1.1. Introduction

Deer farming is now growing significantly worldwide. Among other cervids, fallow deer (*Dama dama*) is the most common farmed species (in numbers) in Europe, especially for venison production (Hoffman & Wiklund 2006). Aside from meat production, antlers are also interesting for the production of velvet, trophies and predicted to be an important source for studying medical science in the future (Klein 1992; Landete-Castillejos et al. 2007*a*; Wu et al. 2013).

Antlers are chemically composed of 35%-45% of collagen and protein (Dobrowolska 2002). During antler growth, deer requires high amount of protein up to 16% (Dryden 2016). However, as ruminant, microbial protein alone can be not enough for supporting growth and production (Merchen & Titgemeyer 1992; Kung & Rode 1996). Specific amino acid (AA) requirements are necessary for protein synthesis, and thus the loss of essential AA through ruminal digestion could be a problem for the protein synthesis needed for antler growth. In particular, the two known limiting AA for ruminants are lysine (Lys) and methionine (Met) (Rosenberg 1957; McDonald et al. 2011). For antler growth, Lys supplementation seems especially promising since it is the main component of collagen and thus precursor of bone tissue (McDonald et al. 2011). However, very few studies on AA supplementation have been carried out on cervids, especially on fallow deer.

Only one study of Mendoza-Nazar et al. (2012) studied methionine supplementation in subadult red deer antlers at different concentrations, but found no effects on antler beam length, brow tine length or number of tines. Moreover this study is limited in sample size, and thus, the results are hardly conclusive. Hence, study on the supplementation of these limiting amino acids on first antler growth of fallow deer with more different levels and on bigger sample size should be conducted for deeper insight.

1.2. Fallow deer biology

Fallow deer was distributed throughout Mediterranean area, west Eurasia and speculated to be brought to England and Europe by Romans (Goss 1983; Stachowicz et Fallow deer belongs to Ruminantia, family Cervidae. It is even-toed al. 2014). ungulate. There are two species in this family, including European fallow deer (Dama dama) and Persian fallow deer (Dama mesopotamica) (Chakanya et al. 2015). Persian fallow deer is typically found in the Middle East while the European fallow deer is mostly abundant in Europe and small part of Asia particularly in Turkey. Persian fallow deer is now included in the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (Werner et al. 2015). They are physically dimorphic. Persian fallow deer has smaller antlers and the palmate located close to the base while European fallow deer palmate is proximate the tip of antlers (Chapman & Chapman 1980). In addition, Persian fallow deer is larger in body size, which is almost 16% larger for bucks (Stachowicz et al. 2014). Fallow deer is known as the most beautiful deer. Obviously, male deer distinguish from female by presence of antlers and the larger body size as shown in Figure 1 (Goss 1983). Typical colours are red, brown, white, and black (Goss 1983; Stachowicz et al. 2014).



Figure 1. Fallow deer (Dama dama) buck with hard antlers.

Fallow deer gives birth to single fawn after the gestation around 8 months. The rutting season is in September and October while deer are around 16 months. Female fallow deer has oestrous cycle for 24 to 26 days. Females and fawns normally live in one group and only meet males during rutting season. Fallow bucks attract the female by their urine, groans vocalisation and behaviour to form harem or lek to perform mating (Goss 1983). Persian fallow deer was known for its importance in game hunting. However, the estimate population in 2013 was only around 371, particularly in Iran (Werner et al. 2015). In contrast, European fallow deer is now known as the most common farmed species in Europe especially for venison production (Hoffman & Wiklund 2006).

1.3. Deer antler

Antler is a unique outside dead bone of cervids that no other mammals possess. There are vast varieties of antler shapes and sizes ranging from smallest to gigantic gorgeous structures which are proportionate with their body size. For instance, *Pudu pudu* known as the smallest deer in the world, has antler only around 3 cm, in proportion of its average little body size weighted (around 6 kg).



Figure 2. Fallow deer palmate antler extracted from Chapman (1975).

On the other hand some species like red deer (*Cervus elaphus*), roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*), wapiti (*Cervus canadensis*) or reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus*) have huge antler formation. Antlers represent male primacy while most of females do not have them, except reindeer or caribou (Goss 1983). Fallow deer has antler as palmation headpieces and some of their antler parts are called differently from other antler types as shown in Figure 2.

1.3.1. Antlerogenesis

Antlerogenesis is the process of formation and development of antlers. Antlers grow at the apex throughout the extension process of pedicles just like plant growth. It involves pedicle formation, growing antler or "in velvet", velvet shedding, hard antler (ready for the rut), antler casting and the regeneration of new antlers (Goss 1983; Fenessy & Suttie 1985).

Pedicle formation: the initiation of antler growth is from the osteoclast, the tissue which is responsible for bone formation. Primary grown part is pedicle which attaches to the skull of deer. This frontal bone connects the skull to the antler during antler growth which means that antler does not directly grow from the skull (Li & Suttie 2001). Deer starts pedicle growth since foetal life as its primordial pedicle tissues exist since the stage of pregnancy in the genera Cervus and Rangifer (Chapman 1975). However, the knob of pedicles starts to form and can be palpable as the fawn initiates first antler growth when they are reaching puberty and the blood testosterone increases (Li & Suttie 2001). This formation part contains special tissue called antlerogenic periosteum. This tissue is considered as the prenatal embryonic retained tissues which self-differentiate and develops to the mature antler and for the whole life antler growth (Kierdorf & Kierdorf 2011). There are two main hormones; testosterone and insulinlike growth factor which help proliferate pedicle generation (Price et al. 2005). The pedicle constitutes mainly spongy bone which then develops to bony structure at the tip due to mineralization. Pedicle stays about few centimetres in young deer. However, in more mature deer, pedicle is shorter to almost unable to see as it is closely attach to the skull (Goss 1983). Pedicle diameter increases when deer is older due to the deposition of concentric layer of bone (Chapman 1975). This part connects to the base of antler which is called antler burr. Antler burr is important for blood transferring and the

starting point of antler growth, casting and regenerating each year (Kierdorf et al. 2003; Kierdorf et al. 2007; Price et al. 2005).

First antlers "in velvet": velvet is the extension of the skin on deer head to cover the antlers Chapman (1975). Velvet antlers are developed with the covering skin from epidermal cells. It contains numerous blood vessels during antler growth (Li & Suttie 2000; Jeon et al. 2011). The dermis of velvet contains thick collagen fibres. The next layers are called proliferation zone which is the growth zone. This zone consists of a layer called perichondrium which contains reserve mesenchyme cells. Those cells are cartilage matrix which will be mineralized into primary spongiosa and secondary spongiosa. The primary spongiosa is formed by early calcification of collagen fibres. The secondary spongiosa forms cancellous bone in the middle and the compact bone peripherally throughout mineralization (Goss 1983). The differentiation of velvet bone continues through endochondral ossification until the first velvet antlers are fully formed (Price et al. 2005). Velvets remain on deer head up to 3 to 5 months, depending on the species. Velvet is soft, shiny and mainly used in medicinal purposes especially in East Asian countries (Wu et al. 2013). Pedicle formation and velvet antler anatomy is shown in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3. Pedicle formation from frontal bone and velvet antler bone adopted from Price et al. (2005).

Antler shedding: the majority of deer shed their velvet during autumn (Li et al. 2004). When the level of testosterone starts to decrease, the longitudinal growth of velvet ceased (Price et al. 2005; Bartos et al. 2012). Deer normally rub their antlers with hard objects such as tree trunks to remove the covered skin of velvet antlers. After shedding, the antlers remain in hard bony structure which is fully mineralized.

Hard antler: the first set of antlers is normally unbranched and spike. For the next regeneration cycle, more branches structure will develop. Also, some big species have few branches in first antler growth. The rate of antler growth is very fast, approximately 1 mm to 3 cm/day depending on the species (Goss 1983). Hard antlers are mineralized prior rutting and used as weapon during fighting for mating and to get access to food (Lincoln 1992). Hard antlers contain more minerals on the base and decreasing to the tips (Landete-Castillejos et al. 2007*b*).

Casting antler: deer normally cast their antlers during winter or spring before the new fawns are born, for example wapiti, sika deer, red deer and fallow deer (Goss 1983). However, some species such as roe deer grows their antlers during winter. During rutting season the level of testosterone is still high, and then drops rapidly after rutting which causes antler casting (Bartos et al. 2012). After casting, the distal pedicle stump skin is swollen and shiny (Li et al. 2004). Casting antler is caused by osteoclast cells and bone resorption process. It happens between pedicle and antler burr (Kierdorf & Kierdorf 2011).

Antler regeneration: antler regeneration is considered as epimorphic regeneration among mammals. It starts in summer in most species soon after casting of previous antlers. This set of antlers is called the real antlers (Goss 1969). There are three main phases of antler regeneration which includes casting of previous hard antlers, wound healing and the formation of the main beams and brown tines (Li et al. 2004). The regeneration process is initiated by stem cell-based process. Wound healing starts by covering skin and fibroblast deposit collagen and vascularize the pedicle mass. The growth starts from the tips of the pedicle. Most deer species cast their antlers and starts regrow soon after. However, some deer species grow their new antlers after few months. In most of Capreolinae species, antler regeneration occurs soon after casting the old antlers. Odocoileini, on the other hand, pose from one to two months between this regeneration (Wilson & Mittermeier 2011). This prolongation depends on indirect

effects of hormone androgen which is also influenced by environment and nutrients (Goss 1983; Kierdorf & Kierdorf 2011).

1.3.2. Antler composition

Antler is defined as dead bone headpieces of deer and their composition is similar to other bones (Goss 1983). In general, there are two forms of bone in deer antlers; compact bone and cancellous (spongy) bone (Figure 3). This bone changes through deposition of minerals within the cartilaginous matrix through a process called endochondrial ossification (Chapman 1975). As reviewed by Picavet and Balligand (2016), antlers are composed of minerals, collagen, non-collagenous protein and water. Even if minerals seem very important in bone compositions, deer antlers contain up to 44% of collagen (Nowicka et al. 2006). Antler compositions are different depending on deer species (Ceacero 2016), growth stages, nutrition and also the parts of antler (base, middle or top) (Chapman 1975; Landete-Castillejos et al. 2012*a*).

In Velvet: in the state of velvet antler, the covering skin is rich in blood vessels. It supplies from pedicle connected to spongy core and compact bone. Therefore, the antler burr perimeter is really important for the whole antler growth. The composition of velvet antlers is higher in protein at the top while the bottom part is higher in ash content and minerals (Sunwoo et al. 1995; Jeon et al. 2011). Velvet antler of young animals is also abundant in active compounds such as fatty acids and vitamins, while the velvet of older deer contains more mineral (Lee et al. 2007).

Hard antler: hard antlers are mainly composed of minerals 56% (Pathak et al. 2001). There are two categories of minerals such as macro or trace minerals and micro minerals. Macro minerals include Ca, P, Mg, Na, K, S and micro elements are B, Cu, Fe, Mn, Sr, Co, Zn, among others. However, some minerals (Ca, P and Mg) which are considered as the most important due to their functions in bone growth and their big portion in antler (Nowicka et al. 2006). Trace elements (Cu, Mn, Fe and Zn) are the most studied due to their importance in bone growth and indicators of nutritional status of deer (Pathak et al. 2001; Nowicka et al. 2006; Landete-Castillejos et al. 2012*b*). According to Chapman (1975) reviews, fallow deer antlers contain moisture 8%, ash content 48.18%, Ca (18.21%), P (8.68%) and ratio Ca:P is 2.10. Some minerals vary depending on management of deer. This difference in composition could be used to

explain deer physiological constrains and their antler quality. For instance, one study of Landete-Castillejos et al. (2007*c*) found higher Zn in free ranging red deer antlers which indicates the incomplete growth of bone. However, the good nutrient feeding captive deer antlers have higher Na, K and Mg and lower in Zn. Other variations of mineral composition in antlers due to physiological constrain and different feeding nutrition will be detailed in the chapter 1.4.3.

1.3.3. Factors affecting antler growth

As briefly mentioned in the antlerogenesis part, factor influencing antler growth is mainly the androgen hormone, testosterone, which is indirectly induced by photoperiod or growth of animals. Bartos et al. (2012) described the influences of testosterone on antler cycle through time as show in Figure 4. The presence of blood testosterone induces pedicle initiation. It reaches the peak during rutting period and drops afterward, followed by antler casting.



Figure 4. Changes in levels of testosterone during antler cycle extracted from Bartos et al. (2012).

Some manipulations such as castration and changes of photoperiod could affect antler initiation and antler cycles (Bartos et al. 2012). For example, study of Kierdorf et al. (1995) on castration of fallow spikes caused the premature antler casting. And when the fallow bucks in velvet antlers were castrated, the antler remained in velvet form without shedding. Castration of fawns inhibits the pedicle initiation and antler growth. For young deer, testosterone is very important for pedicle initiation. It is also important for antler maturation in older deer. Decreasing day length causes velvet shedding and premature hardening of antler. Day length is independent to first yearling antler. But from the second antler, the cycle is mostly modulated by day length. Deer have more antler cycles when they exposed more than one light cycle (Goss 1983). Other steroid and gonadotrophin hormones are also believed to have some influences (Chapman 1975). Insuline-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) is a hormone responsible for stimulating antler growth, specifically influencing cartilage growth during velvet antler period (Suttie et al. 1985). Deer need to reach weight of threshold to start pedicle growth, in particularly for yearlings. Thus, nutrients play an important role, both direct and indirect in antler growth (Fenessy & Suttie 1985; Baxter et al. 1999). Poor feeding and management could retard the pedicle formation (Chapman 1975). The details of this nutritional point of view will be discussed in the chapter 1.4.3.

1.3.4. Indicators of antler quality

Quality of antlers can be determined based on external antler characteristics (antler morphometric), internal antler characteristics, mechanical properties and chemical composition assessments. External antler characteristics include length of antler beam, antler weight, number of tines and antler burr perimeter (Cappelli et al. 2017). Antler weight changes through life stages of animals. It increases from yearlings to adults, but tends to decrease during senescence (Dryden 2016). Antler weight can be up to 5% of body weight in spikers (Landete-Castillejos et al. 2012*b*). Yearling stags usually have branchless antlers (Chapman 1975). Therefore, the number of tines in yearling might not be counted as a good antler indicator in most species, including fallow deer. Antler length of the first antler, on the other hand, is correlated with the number of antler tines in the second antler cycle (Schmidt et al. 2001).

As internal antler characteristic measurements; cortical bone thickness, cortical bone diameter and antler density could be included. Measurement of cortical bone thickness and diameter are commonly used for measuring antler bone rigidity level. This is because antler bone is composed of compact bone surrounding trabecular (spongy) bone as shown in Figure 5. The compact bone contains collagen fibrils, which help improving rigidity and mechanical properties of antlers (Krauss et al. 2011). Higher cortical thickness of antler was found in deer fed better diet (Landete-Castilljos et al. 2007b). Spongy bone characterizes porous property of antlers. When there is high porosity in the compact bone, it is related to incomplete development of primary osteons. The density of cortical bone can be calculated by the division of dried weight of the antler bar fragment and its volume (Cappelli et al. 2017). Density of antler also differs among deer species and tends to decrease when deer is older. It is lower in the main beam than the antler tips according to Miller et al. (1985) in white-tailed deer (1.5-4.5 years old). The density of complete antlers of red deer stags ranges from 1.2-1.6 kg/dm³ in which 1.27-1.88 kg/dm³ correspond to compact bone and 0.34-0.43 kg/dm³ to spongy bone. In the skeleton the density varies from 1.7 to 2.0 kg/dm³ (Chapman 1975).



Figure 5. Antler structure of compact bone and spongy bone extracted from Chen et al. (2008).

Based on many studies on red deer antlers, macro minerals (Ca, P, Mg) and micro minerals such as Zn, Mn, K, and Cu are known as good indicators of antler quality (Landete-Castillijos et al. 2007a; Landete-Castillijos et al. 2012a). Zinc, for instance, indicates the incomplete antler development when it is in high amount in antlers (Landete-Castillijos et al. 2007c). Determination of mineral composition in antlers is used for evaluating quality of antler and also indirect effects of nutrient. Last but not least, intrinsic mechanical properties of the antler can be determined by the treepoint bending test for determination Young's modulus of elasticity (E), bending strength (BS) and work to peak force (W), and impact energy absorption (U), which indicates the toughness of antler bone (Landete-Castilljos et al. 2010; Cappelli et al. 2017). Moisture content in antler seems also important for mechanical properties of antlers. Comparing to normal bone, dried antlers of red deer (at room temperature) have higher bending strength, impact energy absorption and work to fracture. In contrast, wet antlers have higher work to peak force than skeleton (Currey et al. 2009). The wet antler of red deer has higher work to peak force which helps to reduce breakage antler during fighting (Chapman 1981). The stiffness has relation with cortical bone, density and minerals in antlers too (Landete-Castillijos et al. 2012a). One study of Landete-Castillijos et al. (2010) shows that deer antlers growing during hard winter had lower Young's modulus of elasticity, impact energy and work to peak force compared to antler growth during normal winter. This is due to the lack of minerals in plants.

1.4. Nutrition for deer

1.4.1. Digestive physiology and feeding behaviour of fallow deer

Deer are ruminants, and thus their nutrient intake depends on rumination and anaerobic fermentation of microorganisms in their guts. They are more efficient than other kinds of digestive system as they can utilize various feedstuffs due to this symbiotic capacity. Based on feeding categories of ruminants by Hofmann (1989), fallow deer are intermediate feeders as same as reindeer deer and red deer. They graze and browse depending on feed availability but prefer more grazing. This intermediate feeder (IM) switches from grazing to browsing when the plants start to lignify because they avoid the fibre as much as they can. Their digestive anatomy and feeding behaviour is between concentrate selectors (CS) and grass eaters (GR). They eat less frequency than CS but more often than GR. Shipley (1999) summarized the digestive physiology of CS and GR. Concentrated selectors have larger salivary gland, true stomach (abomasum), liver, cecum and intestine but smaller foregut (rumen, reticulum and omasum) as their feedstuffs are mainly concentrates and low in fibres compared to grass eaters. Feeding activity of fallow deer is more active during morning and evening. They eat much amount of food when it is available and chew later (Matiello et al. 1997). Feed intake also varied with seasonal changes. Feeding behaviours of fallow deer were observed by Appolonio and Di Vittorio (2004). Feed intake was completely stopped for male fallow bucks during rutting season. Therefore, feed supplementation prior the rutting season is really important to maintain the body growth.

1.4.2. Nutrient requirement for deer

Deer require basic nutrients just like other ruminants such as protein, energy, minerals, vitamins, and water (Richardson 2000). The requirements differ across species, sexes and their stages of growth. The main nutrient requirements were reviewed by Dryden (2011). Energy requirements are different depending on stages of life, sex and vary across seasons. Net energy requirements in average during winter to spring for adult and non-lactating deer are 0.39 MJME/W (kg)^{0.75} per day. Adult fallow deer require high energy during winter [0.65 MJME/W (kg)^{0.75} per day] and lesser [0.55 MJME/W (kg)^{0.75} per day] during summer for maintenance. Unlike other ruminants, net energy requirements for deer also include the energy for growing coat of fawns during autumn and for antler development. Main source of dietary energy for ruminants is carbohydrates (celluloses, hemicellulose, starch, pectin). These components supply nutrients both to microorganisms in rumen and also the ruminants themselves. Ruminants can get carbohydrates from plants tissues, grasses, fruits, pastures or concentrate feed (mainly in captivity) (NRC 2007). Another sources of energy are lipids but for deer it is not common (note the absence of gallbladder for fat emulsification; Hofmann 1989). Protein is also used as source of energy when it is in excess amount or there is depletion of energy sources.

The protein requirements are higher during reproduction including lactation and antler growth (16-22%); lower requirement for maintenance which is approximately 4% to 9% (Dryden 2011). Proteins and amino acids are really important for body growth, reproduction, maintenance and lactation (Kung & Rode 1996; Richardson 2000). Aside from growing tissues, proteins also play the main role in bone growth. Malnutrition of protein causes detriment of the production and activity of Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) which is important for bone growth (Bonjour et al. 2001). Protein requirements include microbial proteins and dietary proteins that escape from microbial degradation. Final amino acids from that digestion can be absorbed in the small intestine and further be used by ruminants for protein synthesis (NRC 2007). Amino acids are important in protein requirements due to the role as building blocks of protein synthesis. It comprises both essential and non-essential amino acids. Lack of one amino acid, thus protein synthesis cannot be completed (McDonald et al. 2011). Therefore, the description of the limitation of proteins and amino acids will be described in the chapter 1.4.4.

Macro and micro minerals are also essential for deer because they cannot synthesize it. Their primary role is in structural components of organs and tissue particularly bones, skeletons, teeth; functioning in body fluids such as milk composition, osmotic equilibrium; role in metabolisms such as enzymes, co-enzymes or cofactors (NRC 2007). Greater demand of minerals for female deer is during lactation, especially for milk production and contributing to fawns for developing bones and their early growth (Ceacero et al. 2010). This is for sure that the importance during antler growth is inevitable. Deer need macro minerals (Ca, P, Mg, Na, Cl, K, S) and trace minerals (Cu, Zn, Se, I, Mn, Co, Fe). Macro minerals are required in high amount while trace minerals are also important but needed in small amounts (NRC 2007). Calcium and P play most important role in bone, antler growth and also in milk composition (Ceacero et al. 2010). Trace minerals are essential due to their role as enzymes and coenzymes in metabolic pathways for growth, maintenance and reproduction. Copper is an important trace element for deer to help improving performance and preventing enzootic ataxia (failure of muscular coordination) and osteochondrosis, in case of deficiency (Wilson et al. 2014). Deer need double amount of Cu compared to sheep in their diet which is around 5 mg/Kg DM (Grace & Knowles 2012). Zinc is also really important for nutrient digestibility and production. Dietary minerals from plants depend on the soil characteristics. In animal production, minerals are mainly supplemented in

the form of salt licking (NRC 2007). Supplementation of minerals such as Mn, Cu helps to improve antler cortical thickness, chemical components and mechanical properties (Cappelli et al. 2015; Gambín et al. 2017). Study of vitamins requirement for deer is very limited. Vitamins A, D and E are important for growth and development in deer. Vitamin A is important for ossification of bone and antler growth. Vitamin D could be potential for calcium absorption in mineralization. For vitamin E, the main function could be as the prevention of tissue damaging (Richardson 2000).

Nutrient in feed stuffs is also affected by weather as its indirect effect on compositions of pastures and plants, especially for wild animals or game estate management. For instance, in summer there is more feed availability and better nutrient in plants (Bugalho & Milne 2003). In contrast, animals have feed shortage due to limited nutrients in plants during winter. For this reason, supplementations during winter are needed for adequate deer production. For example, Webster et al. (2001) supplemented barley to red deer stags during winter for compensating the lack of pasture. The result shows that deer increased live weight gain compared to deer fed only grass silage.

1.4.3. Nutrition for antler growth

Antler growth can be affected by the whole stages of growing period (since the foetus, during suckling, weaning and first antler growth). This can affect the spike size of first antler growth. However, in older stags, the bodyweight and antler weight have closer relationship (heavy deer tends to have heavy antlers) than the spike antlers (Dryden 2016). Fawns suckling milk rich in proteins and minerals have higher spike weight (Gómez et al. 2006; Ceacero et al. 2010). During antler growth, deer have specific requirements of nutrients such as proteins, vitamins, energy and especially minerals (Dryden 2016). One of the main nutrients is protein which is required up to 16% for growing antler and approximate 11.5% for initiating pedicle development (Putto et al. 1998; Dryden 2011). However, Dryden (2016) also discussed that a high quantity protein is not always enough to adequate antler growth. In fact, the quality of protein. One of the limiting effects could be because the proteins are degraded by microorganisms (will be discussed later). Therefore, specific amino acids are more

important than protein supply for antler growth. Among essential amino acids, Lysine would be a good candidate for antler growth due to its contribution to collagen formation and as precursor of bone tissue (McDonald et al. 2011).

The second well known component of diet necessary for antler growth is minerals. Antler growth rate is very rapid, and it requires high amount of minerals (Kierdorf et al. 2000). The peak of minerals demand for antler mineralization from trabecular bone to compact bone in red deer is around 100 days of antler growth (Gómez et al. 2013). The two macro elements; calcium and phosphorus are very important in bone and as well as in antlers (Nowicka et al. 2006). It is important for skeletal mineralization for improving mechanical properties of bone and bony tissue structures such as teeth, skeletons (Nordin 1997). During high peak of mineralization, Ca and P are resorbed from skeletons to antlers (Moen et al. 1999). Phosphorus is known as the most limiting mineral for ungulate herbivores. For deer it is important in alkaline phosphatase involving in minerals deposit during antler growth (Grasman & Hellgren 1993). Study on Irish elk antlers, the largest antlers among cervids, found out that the requirement of Ca and P are approximate 60 g and 30 g deposit in antlers for 60 days growing at high peak of mineralization (Moen et al. 1999). Approximate 20% of minerals are transferred from bone to antlers during antler growth (Landete-Castillejos et al. 2012b). Calcium transference from skeleton to antler is higher for young deer (Cowan et al. 1968). Manganese is essential trace mineral in the synthesis of the mucopolysaccharides of cartilage (Leach & Muenster 1962). For example, poor Mn in diet during winter in Spain, caused reduction of cortical thickness (30%), impact energy (27%) and work to peak force (10%) (Landete-Castillijos et al. 2010). Thus, following experiment of Mn supplementation by Cappelli et al. (2015) found increased chemical compositions (Ca, Na, P, B, Co, Cu, K, Mn, Ni, and Se) in adult red deer antlers. Moreover, level of Mn at 80 mg/kg help increasing antler weight in sika deer stags (Bao et al. 2017). Cu also plays an essential role in the maturation of collagen, specifically the synthesis of lysine-derived crosslinks (Hyun et al. 2004).

1.4.4. Limitation of nutrient utilization in deer

Firstly, minerals are known as limited nutrient because deer cannot synthesize them. However, many studies about the effect of minerals supplementation on antler growth have been done, so it will not be discussed in this chapter. Only the main limiting nutrients, protein and amino acids will be discussed.

Deer have limitation of utilizing proteins and amino acids due to digestion process of microorganisms. For ruminant, microbial proteins alone cannot be sufficient for growth and production (Kung & Rode 1996). The proteins or amino acids fed to ruminants are not in the same quality when absorbed in the intestine. The two known limiting amino acids for ruminants are Lysine (Lys) and Methionine (Met) (Rosenberg 1957). Lysine is known as main precursor for collagen as previously mentioned. Methionine, on the other hand, is important for production of cellular components (McDonald et al. 2011). Some studies have proved that supplementation of these limiting amino acids helps improving growth and animal health. Supplementation of Met and Lys helps improving average daily gain of steer fed meat and bone meal and corn and gluten meal (Klemesrud et al. 2000). However, the supplementation has to be done in protected form in order to avoid the degradation through digestion (Dryden 2016). Ruminally Protected Amino Acids (RPAAs) are amino acids which are protected from rumen digestion and thus highly available for absorption in intestine. The protecting methods include heat or chemical treatment; encapsulation by coating material; use of amino acids analogues and esophageal groove closure (Chalupa 1975). Even if supplementation with limiting amino acids is a hot topic for ruminants, most of the supplementation studies have been carried out on monogastricts. It has not been well studied on deer and at all on fallow deer. So far, there are only two studies of Met and Lys supplementation performed on deer. Huang et al. (2015a) studied Met supplementation on sika deer calves, finding no increase in final bodyweight or average daily gains (ADG). In the second study they obtained very similar results when supplementing Lys+Met to calves with a poor protein diet, although supplementation did not improve the performance observed in animals with an adequate protein diet (Huang et al. 2015b). Only one study (Mendoza-Nazar et al. 2012) focused on the effects of supplementation of different levels of methionine on antler growth of subadult red deer. They found no effects on any external antler characteristics (antler beam

length, brow tine length or number of tines). Unfortunately, these three experiments were performed in small sample size, always 4 animals per group. These limited studies are pioneer of the idea that more exclusive study should be done on this great topic with adequate sample size and more inclusive design.

2. Aims of the Thesis

The goal of this Thesis was to find out the influence of limiting amino acids supplementation, Lysine and Methionine, on the improvement of first antler growth of fallow deer (*Dama dama*).

Specific objectives of this study were:

- To determine the effect of supplementation of limiting amino acids, Lysine on the improvement of antler characteristics, mechanical properties and chemical composition of first antler growth of fallow deer.
- To evaluate the effectiveness of the different levels of Lysine supplementation on antler characteristics, mechanical properties and chemical composition.
- To determine the effect of combination of limiting amino acids, Lysine and Methionine, on the antler characteristics, mechanical properties and chemical compositions.

The Hypothesis

H1: Lysine supplementation will improve antler characteristics (external and internal antler characteristics), mechanical properties and chemical composition.

H2: Combination of Lysine and Methionine supplementation will also increase antler characteristics, mechanical properties and chemical compositions.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Experimental design

3.1.1. Experimental site and animals

The study was conducted during two consecutive years, 2015 and 2016, at a private deer farm in Mnich village, near Kardašova Řečice town, South Bohemian region, Czech Republic (49.17N, 14.90E; 485 masl) as shown on map Figure A1, Appendix 2. The experiments were carried out on yearling fallow bucks (*Dama dama*) shown in Figure 6. Each year, 45 animals were divided into three groups balanced by weight and ear tagged for identification. All experimental animals were born in the previous spring each year, which means that in first experiment (2015), fawns were born in June 2014 and the second experiment (2016), fawns were born in June 2015. As reported by Czech Hydrometeorological Institute, extreme summer was noticed in 2015 especially in August which temperature was above 35°C especially in South Bohemian and Central Bohemian region (CHMI 2015). Animals were kept in 2 ha paddocks, and raised on good quality extensive grazing pasture from weaning (around January) to the end of the experiments in late autumn (December) except some animals in 2016 that were culled in late winter.



Figure 6. Yearling fallow deer bucks during velvet antler growth.

3.1.2. Feeding and supplementation

Supplementation with Ruminally Protected Amino Acids (RPAAs) started in the beginning of summer (from May) on daily basis distributed on feeding platform to allow access to all animals in group at once, when animals were of one year old, slightly before antler growth starts. The RPAAs were Lysine LysiPEARL[™] (in experiment 2015), which was encapsulated by Spray-freezing encapsulation method and LysiGemTM (in experiment 2016). The coating material was Hydrogenated vegetable oil (palm). Ruminally protected methionine was Smartamine® M, which was coated with pH-sensitive polymer. The coating material helps to prevent ruminal degradation of amino acids and makes them highly available for intestinal absorption. The inclusion levels of RPAA were calculated based on the body weight of the animals and the previous study of Mendoza-Nazar et al. (2012), following a 3:1 concentration ratio of Lysine (Lys) and Methionine (Met) (Schwab et al. 2004). During the first experiment (2015), a control group was fed during the antler growth period exclusively on pasture; a second group received 0.2 kg of barley per animal and day; the third one received the same amount of barley and 5 g per animal and day of RPAA Lysine. The purpose of this first trial was to see the effectiveness of Lysine supplementation on antler growth because it is known as the main candidate for collagen precursor in bone tissues.

Groups	2015	2016
Pasture	15 / 15	
Pasture + Barley ¹	15 / 14	15 / 10
Pasture + Barley + Lys 5 (g/day)	15 / 15	
Pasture + Barley + Lys 9 (g/day)		15 / 9
Pasture + Barley + Lys 9 (g/day) + Met 3 (g/day)		15 / 8
Total antlers used	44	27

 Table 1. Experimental design along the two years, animals in each experimental group and number of antlers analysed.

¹ 0.2 kg of barley per animal and day in 2015; 0.5 kg in 2016

In second experiment (2016), a group fed on pasture and barley (0.5 kg per animal and day) was used as control respects the first year; the second group also received level of Lysine was increased to 9 gram and the third group received the combination of Lysine (9 g) and Methionine (3 g). The increase of barley in second experiment to 0.5 kg was to compensate the lower body growth during drought 2015 (CHMI 2015).The composition of groups and experimental designed clearly shown in the Table 1.

Aside from pasture, all groups also received a mineral mixture (Premin Slanisko, VVS Vermerovice s.r.o., Czech Republic). During the second experiment (2016), some animals from each group were culled during winter (February), and these received grass silage to compensate for the lack of pasture; nevertheless, supplementation of silage was well after antlers were fully grown and mineralised. The nutrient compositions of barley, grass silage and pasture are shown in Table A1 in Appendix 1.

3.1.3. Culling

Most animals were culled on late autumn, although a few from each group were culled in late winter in the second year study due to technical farming purposes. Each year, during slaughtering time, the same numbers of animals from each group were culled. In experiment 2015, slaughtering carried during October. In experiment 2016, slaughtered dates were on December 2016 and February 2017 (Late winter). The animals were rendered unconscious by mechanical stunning using captive bolt gun, according to the Czech laws and bled by cutting of neck arteries. The final body mass was measured before culling using a Tru-Test EziWeight (New Zealand) scale with an accuracy of 0.1 kg. Other biometric variables were also measured but not including in this study. Due to the excitable nature of the species, no handling during the experiment was possible. Thus, the only data available was that collected at the start of the experiment (that collected while sorting the groups) or at culling. Body mass was already higher at the beginning of the experiment in the first year [probably due to the worse weather conditions in 2015 (severe drought, CHMI 2015) leading to lower pastures during the early growth in those calves used in the first experiment in 2016]. Body weight and body condition at culling was also not suitable because of different timing between and within each year (due to management purposes). For these reasons,

we decided not to include body mass or body condition as control variable in the statistical analyses described below.

3.1.4. Antler collection

Broken antlers were excluded from the study, since mechanical tests could be performed only in antlers long enough to allow testing. Thus, 44 antlers were fully studied in 2015 but only in 27 animals in 2016. The higher breakage rate in 2016 was probably due to later culling (November for the 2015 experiment; February to January for the 2016 experiment), which increased the chances of breaking the antlers due to multiple reasons.

Antlers were removed after culling just below the burr using a manual saw. Length of both antlers was measured, as so as the burr perimeter. After cutting, antlers were washed, labelled and dried at room temperature (Figure 7) until the mass was constant (approximately four days). Weight was recorded in a precision balance (± 0.01 g). Mean values for both antlers were calculated and used in the statistical analyses.



Figure 7. Antler of both sides with identification number during drying.

3.2. Mechanical and chemical analysis

One antler per animal was selected for the rest of analyses, preferentially the left one. A 5-6 cm piece was cut just above the initial pearled part of the antler. Both upper and lower complete transverse cross-sections of the piece were scanned (ScanJet 4370 Photo Scanner, HP Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA) at 2400×2400 dpi and analysed in an image analysis software (ImageJ). The cortical bone thickness was measured at six equally spaced points around the shaft. The area of the cortical section was measured, as so as the areas occupied by trabecular and cortical bone. Mean values were finally calculated for cortical bone diameter (CBD) in cm and in percentage, and cortical bone area (CBA) in percentage.

To calculate the density of the cortical bone, one portion of samples remaining after the mechanical test (with rectangular shape) were dried out for 72 h at 60°C, weighed with a precision balance (± 0.01 g) and measured with a precision scale (± 0.01 mm). Density was calculated by dividing the dry weight by the volume. Finally, the sample was placed in a muffle furnace (HTC 1400, Carbolite, UK) for 6 h at 480°C, and ash content was calculated as ash weight divided by dry weight.

Another fragment after the mechanical tests was used to determine the mineral content of the antlers. Contents of Ca, P, Mg, Na, K, S, B, Cu, Fe, Mn, Sr and Zn were analysed in a specialized lab (CEBAS-CSIC; Murcia, Spain) by plasma-optical emission spectrometer using a ICAP 6500 DUO Spectrometer/IRIS INTR.EPID II XDL (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The ratio of Ca to P was also calculated. Two bars of cortical bone were prepared for each antler in order to test the mechanical properties. The final size of the bars was 4.5 mm wide, 2.5 mm deep, with variable length sufficient for a gauge length of 40 mm. A low-speed circular saw was used for initial cutting of the antler piece in two halves along the longitudinal axis. Surfaces were then abraded using a semiautomatic polishing machine (LaboPol-21, Struers Inc., Ballerup, Denmark) until creating bars of the correct size. Thereafter, samples were placed in Hank's balanced salt buffer solution (BioWhittaker, Belgium) for 48 h, and subsequently the bars were dried at 20°C, 40% relative humidity, for 72 h. This procedure aims to standardize the humidity content. One bar was tested by threepoint bending, with the periosteal side in tension, in a Zwick/Roell 500 N machine (Germany) with head speed 32 mm/min, and analysed with the software testXpert II (Zwick GmbH & Co, Ulm, Germany) (Figure A2, Appendix 3). The mechanical properties measured were Young's modulus of elasticity (E; an estimate of stiffness), bending strength (BS; calculated from the maximum load borne), and the work to peak force (W; determined by the total work done on the specimen up to the greatest load borne and divided by the central cross-sectional area). Further details about these properties can be found in Currey et al. (2009). The second bar was tested for impact work (U), which measures the energy used to break an un-notched specimen by a falling pendulum. This value of U was normalized by dividing by the cross-sectional area of the specimen. Tests were carried out in a CEAST-IMPACTOR II (CEAST S.p.A., Pianezza, Italy) with a hammer of 1 J (Figure A3, Appendix 3).

All mechanical and chemical analysis were carried out in laboratory in the in University of Castilla-La Mancha in Albacete, Spain.

3.3. Data analysis

Firstly, Levene test used to check homogeneity of variances. One-way ANOVAs were used to detect the differences of the treatments in each year. Due to the differences found between years, statistical analyses were done separately for each year. Tukey test was used to find out significant differences among treatments.

MANOVA was used to analyse differences among treatments on the previously described variables, which were grouped as external (antler length, weight and burr diameter) and internal antler characteristics (CBD, CBD%, CBA, ash and density), antler mechanical properties (Young's modulus, bending strength, work and impact) and chemical composition (Ca, P, Ca/P, Mg, Na, K, S, B, Cu, Fe, Mn, Sr and Zn).

Finally, multivariate General Linear Models studied the effects of body mass at the beginning of the experiment and treatment on the groups of variables previously described for the MANOVA analysis.

The threshold for significance was always considered P<0.05. All analyses were performed in SPSS version 20 (IBM, SPSS, USA).

4. Results

4.1. Effect of Lysine on antler growth in the first experiment (2015)

In the first experiment, the RPAA Lysine did not improve any antler characteristics as shown in Table 2.

Table 2. MANOVAs showing lack of significant differences of dietsupplementation with ruminally protected Lys on antler characteristics of fallowdeer yearlings (Experiment 2015).

Parameters	Pasture	Pasture +Barley	Pasture + Barley+ Lys (5 g/day)	p-value		
External antler characteristics (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.943$, p=0.886)						
Antler length (cm)	28.9 ± 5.4	26.3 ± 5.9	27.0 ± 6.0	0.461		
Antler weight (g)	83.6 ± 18.0	80.2 ± 19.5	81.4 ± 22.6	0.895		
Antler burr (cm)	24.0 ± 1.6	24.0 ± 2.3	23.6 ± 3.0	0.897		
Internal antler characteristics (W	/ilks' λ = 0.817, p=0.643)				
CBD (cm)	0.372 ± 0.081	0.340 ± 0.088	0.328 ± 0.166	0.304		
CBD (%)	0.420 ± 0.096	0.461 ± 0.074	0.495 ± 0.153	0.300		
CBA (%)	0.666 ± 0.071	0.683 ± 0.087	0.617 ± 0.159	0.283		
Ash (%)	56.8 ± 2.0	56.6 ± 2.5	55.6 ± 2.8	0.400		
Density (kg/dm ³)	1.53 ± 0.17	1.60 ± 0.12	1.54 ± 0.21	0.531		
Mechanical properties (Wilks' λ	= 0.873, p= 0.716)					
Young's Modulus (GPa)	10.9 ± 2.2	12.2 ± 1.8	11.7 ± 2.9	0.370		
Bending Strength (MPa)	224 ± 41	250 ± 38	245 ± 63	0.327		
Work (KJ/m ²)	27.4 ± 5.4	29.0 ± 6.2	29.1 ± 7.1	0.689		
Impact (KJ/ m ²)	16.1 ± 3.3	15.3 ± 3.1 15.5 ± 5.0		0.842		
Chemical composition (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.219$, p= 0.149)						
Ca (g/100g)	16.7 ± 1.0	17.0 ± 1.1	17.0 ± 1.4	0.726		
P (g/100g)	11.2 ± 0.8	11.4 ± 1.3	11.6 ± 1.4	0.668		
Ca/P	1.490 ± 0.062	1.490 ± 0.085	1.47 ± 0.090	0.754		
Mg (g/100g)	0.377 ± 0.024	0.389 ± 0.025	0.372 ± 0.023	0.158		
Na (g/100g)	0.540 ± 0.037	0.554 ± 0.031	0.548 ± 0.031	0.407		
K (g/100g)	0.0344 ± 0.0086	0.0340 ± 0.0042	0.0344 ± 0.0065	0.991		
S (g/100g)	0.233 ± 0.019	0.237 ± 0.014	0.237 ± 0.015	0.771		
B (mg/Kg)	0.629 ± 0.120	0.664 ± 0.179	0.624 ± 0.347	0.885		
Cu (mg/Kg)	0.378 ± 0.142	0.357 ± 0.085	0.453 ± 0.216	0.239		
Fe (mg/Kg)	13.9 ± 9.2	18.5 ± 10.7	15.5 ± 10.5	0.477		
Mn (mg/Kg)	16.64 ± 1.24	17.05 ± 0.98	16.56 ± 0.97	0.439		
Sr (mg/Kg)	154 ± 17	148 ± 13	147 ± 18	0.533		
Zn (mg/Kg)	47.2 ± 5.4	46.3 ± 4.1	46.4 ± 5.1	0.843		

Note: CBD: Cortical bone diameter; CBA: Cortical bone area; Ca/P: Ca to P ratio.

The multivariate GLM revealed an effect of body mass on the internal antler characteristics, mechanical properties and chemical composition, which means that larger animals produced better antlers, but not bigger. However, after controlling for the body mass of the animals at the beginning of the experiment, the supplementation treatment only had a marginally significant effect on chemical composition (Table 3).

Table 3. Multivariate General Linear Models showing the effect of body mass at the beginning of the experiment and treatment (different diet supplementation regimes; see text) on the antler characteristics of fallow deer yearlings in the first experiment described (2015).

Multivariate General Linear Models					
Firs	First Experiment (2015)				
	Wilk's λ (p-value)	Pillai's Trace (p-value)			
External Antler Characteristics – Not sig	gnificant				
Internal Antler Characteristics					
Intercept	0.356 (<0.001***)	0.644 (<0.001***)			
Body mass (kg)	0.727 (0.028*)	0.273 (0.028*)			
Treatment	(^{ns})	(^{ns})			
Mechanical properties					
Intercept	$0.785~(0.046^*)$	0.215 (0.046*)			
Body mass (kg)	0.643 (0.001**)	0.357 (0.00+**)			
Treatment	(^{ns})	(^{ns})			
Chemical composition					
Intercept	0.002 (<0.001***)	0.998 (<0.001***)			
Body mass (kg)	0.412 (0.006**)	$0.588~(0.006^{**})$			
Treatment	0.335 (0.080 [†])	0.811 (0.093 [†])			

***, **, * and \dagger indicates significance at p < 0.001, 0.01, 0.05 and 0.01, respectively.

4.2. Effect of Lysine and Methionine on antler growth in the second experiment (2016)

In the second experiment, the RPAAs improved external antler characteristics (Figure 8; Table 4), interestingly, antler burr perimeter (p=0.008).

Table 4 . MANOVAs showing significant differences of diet supplementation on antler characteristics of fallow deer yearlings (Experiment 2016). Significant differences are highlighted in bold.

Parameters	Pasture + Barley	Pasture + Barley+ Lys (9 g/day)	Pasture + Barley+ Lys (9 g/day) + Met (3 g/day)	p-value		
External antler characteristics (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.495$, $P = 0.013$)						
Antler length (cm)	22.3 ± 7.0	27.2 ± 5.4	27.7 ± 7.2	0.158		
Antler weight (g)	55.0 ± 14.9	58.6 ± 13.4	74.5 ± 22.7	0.061		
Antler burr (cm)	$19.6\pm2.3^{\rm B}$	21.9 ± 2.4^{AB}	$23.9\pm3.1^{\rm A}$	0.008		
Internal antler characteristics (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.594$, $P = 0.326$)						
CBD (cm)	0.442 ± 0.102	0.441 ± 0.075	0.424 ± 0.126	0.924		
CBD (%)	0.496 ± 0.101	0.525 ± 0.088	0.488 ± 0.144	0.754		
CBA (%)	0.726 ± 0.106	0.751 ± 0.062	0.726 ± 0.162	0.867		
Ash (%)	58.1 ± 7.4	53.7 ± 3.0	56.3 ± 5.0	0.250		
Density (kg/dm ³)	1.41 ± 0.26	1.51 ± 0.15	1.63 ± 0.15	0.093		
Mechanical propertie	es (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.724, P =$	= 0.510)				
Young's Modulus (GPa)	18.3 ± 4.0	19.2 ± 1.9	22.3 ± 5.0	0.162		
Bending Strength (MPa)	223 ± 50	237 ± 22	263 ± 56	0.190		
Work (KJ/m ²)	29.2 ± 9.2	31.3 ± 3.7	34.1 ± 7.1	0.359		
Impact (KJ/m ²)	14.4 ± 2.8	13.4 ± 3.7	15.3 ± 3.4	0.504		
Chemical composition (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.022, P = 0.131$)						
Ca (g/100g)	25.2 ± 2.1	25.5 ± 1.9	26.1 ± 1.7	0.666		
P (g/100g)	11.0 ± 1.0	10.9 ± 1.1	11.3 ± 0.8	0.764		
Ca/P	2.230 ± 0.072	2.335 ± 0.066	2.311 ± 0.042	0.420		
Mg (g/100g)	0.569 ± 0.058	0.581 ± 0.044	0.608 ± 0.047	0.268		
Na (g/100g)	0.683 ± 0.047	0.721 ± 0.059	0.733 ± 0.058	0.137		
K (g/100g)	0.0829 ± 0.0059	0.0814 ± 0.0060	0.0819 ± 0.0054	0.849		
S (g/100g)	0.199 ± 0.022	0.199 ± 0.015	0.191 ± 0.016	0.614		
B (mg/Kg)	0.683 ± 0.371	0.989 ± 1.321	0.707 ± 0.189	0.670		
Cu (mg/Kg)	0.480 ± 0.150^{A}	0.384 ± 0.116^{AB}	$0.318 \pm 0.075^{\rm B}$	0.029		
Fe (mg/Kg)	25.4 ± 25.3	19.9 ± 9.4	18.8 ± 16.1	0.716		
Mn (mg/Kg)	26.3 ± 1.7	26.3 ± 1.2	27.0 ± 0.9	0.510		
Sr (mg/Kg)	203 ± 29	218 ± 23	226 ± 23	0.174		
Zn (mg/Kg)	45.8 ± 4.6	46.2 ± 4.0	47.8 ± 3.1	0.566		

Superscripts (A, B, AB) indicate statistical differences between groups.

CBD: Cortical bone diameter; CBA: Cortical bone area; Ca/P: Ca to P ratio.

The supplementation of Lys+Met group shows the highest antler burr perimeter $(23.9 \pm 3.1 \text{ cm})$ compared to Lysine (5 g) group $(21.9 \pm 2.4 \text{ cm})$. And the control group was the lowest $(19.6 \pm 2.3 \text{ cm})$. No significant effects were found on the internal and mechanical antler characteristics. However, the supplementation Lys+Met tends to improve these characteristics compared to the two other groups.



Figure 8. Antler burr perimeter (MEAN±SE) of the three experimental groups in 2016. Tukey test highlighted significant differences between the groups P+B and L9+M3 (see Table 4 for more details). (P-Pasture; B-Barley; L-Lysine; M-Methionine).

Significant differences also found for the content of Copper (Cu), (p=0.029). The highest level was in the control group and decreased successively to the group Lys+Met (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Level of Cu (MEAN±SE) of the three experimental groups in 2016. Tukey test highlighted significant differences between the groups P+B and L9+M3 (see Table 4 for more details). (P-Pasture; B-Barley; L-Lysine; M-Methionine).

In this experiment, multivariate GLM revealed an effect of body mass on the external antler characteristics, and mechanical properties. However, the supplementation treatment had a greater effect than in the first experiment after controlling for the body mass of the animals, significantly affecting the chemical composition and marginally affecting the external antler characteristics as shown in Table 5 below.

Table 5. Multivariate General Linear Models showing the effect of body mass at the beginning of the experiment and treatment (different diet supplementation regimes; see text) on the antler characteristics of fallow deer yearlings in the second experiment described (2016).

Multivariate General Linear Models					
Second Experiment (2016)					
's λ (p-value)	Pillai's Trace (p-value)				
).565 (0.024*)	0.435 (0.024*)				
0.551 (0.020 [*])	$0.449~(0.020^*)$				
).518 (0.084 [†])	0.556 (0.069 [†])				
.829 (0.497 ^{ns})	0.171 (0.497 ^{ns})				
).590 (0.050 [*])	$0.410~(0.050^*)$				
(^{ns})	(^{ns})				
)1 (<0.001***)	1.000 (<0.001***)				
(^{ns})	(^{ns})				
0.030 (0.033*)	$1.566\ (0.050^*)$				
	$\frac{near Models}{nt (2016)}$ $\frac{(2016)}{(s \lambda (p-value))}$ $\frac{(2016)}{(s \lambda (p-value))}$ $\frac{(2016)}{(s \lambda (p-value))}$ $\frac{(0.020^*)}{(0.050^*)}$ $\frac{(0.050^*)}{(n^s)}$ $\frac{(n^s)}{(n^s)}$ $\frac{(n^s)}{(0.030 (0.033^*))}$				

****, **, * and \dagger indicates significance at p < 0.001, 0.05 and 0.1, respectively.

4.3. Effect of RPAAs between the two experiments

In both experiments, the level of Zinc (average 46.6 mg/Kg) of all groups was very low (Table 2 and Table 4). The effectiveness of RPAAs was clearly visible that in the second experiment (2016), RPAAs, had more effects on antler characteristics. For instance, we illustrated this significant tendency on the improvement on external antler characteristics (antler weight, antler length, antler burr perimeters) between the two experiments ash shown in Figure A4; Figure A5; Figure A6 in Appendix 4) successively.

Moreover, level of Manganese and Ca contents seem correlated both across years. Within lower Ca in all groups in first year experiment, was also in accordance with the lower level Mn (Table 2 and Table 4). The same for the second experiment, these two minerals were in similar amount. And they were higher than the first experiment.

5. Discussion

Supplementation of Ruminally Protected Amino Acids (RPAAs) has limited effects on antler characteristics. Nevertheless, these effects were found mainly in the second experiment (2016), which is a quite interesting result. At first glance, it may be argued that this is because in the second experiment the supplementation with RPAAs was more adequate (including Met) and with higher levels of inclusion (i.e., 9 vs 5 g/day of Lys). However, as indicated previously, the overall performance was greater during the first year probably due to better conditions during early growth. Our only explanation for the differences found between years is that severe drought occurred in 2015 (CHMI 2015), causing lower availability of pastures and leading to poor calf growth already at the start of our experiments. The lower growth in the second year may have constrained antler growth, which on the other hand allows finding greater effects of the RPAAs supplementation in case that, indeed, these are beneficial for antler growth. On the contrary, significant effects on antlers were not found in animals with greater performance (2015 experiment). In fact, our results would be then relatively similar to those observed by Huang et al. (2015b). These authors reported that supplementation of Lys+Met increased weight gains in sika deer calves only when they were fed a low quality diet; however, when deer were fed a high crude protein diet there was no effect on body weight or average daily gains.

Low Zn content is considered an indicator of fully completed antler growth. Zinc is involved in bone mineralization through the enzyme alkaline-phosphatase (Hove et al. 1940), and thus, its presence in the antler in high levels is an indicator of inadequate mineralization due to physiological exhaustion (Landete-Castillejos et al. 2012*a*). For instance, red deer antler under poor diet quality, Zinc content is very high (96 mg/kg) (Landete-Castillejos et al. 2012*b*). In both our experiments Zinc content was low (around 46 mg/kg), and very low variability was observed between years, among treatments and intra-treatments, indicating lack of physiological exhaustion. That means that all the animals involved in the experiment could build their antlers under no physiological constraints, which is also supported by the fact that supplementation treatment had no effect on the mechanical properties or the chemical composition of the antlers. This is important to adequately understand our results: if antlers were grown under no physiological constraint, the differences observed may be indeed caused by the treatments, and not because of the different performance observed between years.

One of our predictions was a positive effect of Lys supplementation on antler growth due to its important influence as component of collagen (McDonald et al. 2011). No effect was found in the first experiment with a concentration of 5 g/day, but it was significant in the second experiment with a concentration of 9 g/day, especially for the external antler characteristics (mainly antler length). Coating material may have also limited the effectiveness of Lys in the first experiment. Lysine coated with dehydrated fatty acid has lower release of nitrogen compared to other coating materials like pH-sensitive polymers (Rossi et al. 2003). Thus, increasing Lys supplementation level in addition to Met produced much greater positive effects in antler weight and burr perimeter. Already Merchen and Titgemey (1992) reviewed the greater effect of supplementing limiting amino acids in mixtures with two or more of them on growth and feed efficiency of growing steers and lambs.

Not only Lys plays a key role in the cartilage formation and further mineralization. Manganese is essential in the synthesis of the mucopolysaccharides of cartilage (Leach and Muenster 1962): rats with low Mn content in diet have bone with low Ca content (Strause et al. 1986), and a supplementation of Mn produced antler with greater Ca content in red deer (Cappelli et al. 2015). Manganese and Ca contents seem correlated both across years and within experiments, but contrary to Landete-Castillejos et al. (2010) or Cappelli et al. (2015) the variability in these minerals did not produce differences in the mechanical properties.

Finally, Cu plays an essential role in the maturation of collagen, specifically the synthesis of lysine-derived crosslinks (Hyun et al. 2004); thus, deficiency increases bone fragility (Opsahl et al. 1982). It has been also recently proposed a potential positive effect of Cu supplementation on antlers (cortical thickness; Gambín et al. 2017). Nevertheless, in our second experiment, supplementation of Lys (9 g/day) and Lys+Met produced a significant decrease of Cu content, and again this had no consequences on antler structure or mechanical properties. Thus, an indirect effect of RPAA supplementation on antler growth mediated by interaction with key minerals can be discarded.

One of the most interesting positive effects is that on antler burr. Antler burr is the connection between antler and pedicle, important for blood supply during antler growth (Goss 1983; Kierdorf et al. 2003, 2007). It is attached to the periosteum, also known as antlerogenic periosteum (Goss 1983), which supplies the major components for the early growth of the antler (Brown 1992). The bigger the burr the better the pedicle, and this has positive long term effects on future antlers (Gómez et al. 2006).

Lysine and Lys+Met supplementation positively affected antler size also after controlling for body characteristics (initial body mass). These effects were more intense again during the second experiment: marginal effect on chemical composition during the first experiment, whilst significant effect on chemical composition and marginally significant effect on external antler characteristics during the second. This suggests that supplementation of amino acids have a direct effect on antlers. However, since we could not use in our analyses the body weight at the end of antler growth we cannot discard the existence of an indirect effect of AAs on antler mediated by positive effects on body characteristics (Gómez et al. 2012). Nevertheless, Mendoza-Nazar et al. (2012) showed positive effects on average daily gains of 4.5 g/day Met supplementation in red deer (although negative effects when supplementing 2.5 g/day), although these were not reflected on positive effect on antler growth. That means that the only two available results on this matter (Mendoza-Nazar et al. 2012 and this study), both suggest that the effects of AAs on antler is direct, and not mediated by body mass.

In summary, our results indicate that RPAAs have limited effects on first antler growth, and these effects are more evident in worst growth conditions and under combined Lys+Met supplementation. As suggested by Mendoza-Nazar et al. (2012) and Huang et al. (2015*a*, 2015*b*), our results (based on a larger sample size) support that there is potential for RPAAs to improve deer production especially in nutritionally poor environments.

6. Conclusions

The Ruminally Protected Amino Acids, Lysine and Methionine, had significant effects on antler quality. With the increase of the amount and more inclusion of limiting amino acids, external antler characteristics were improved. General antler characteristics, chemical and mechanical properties also tend to improve with more availability of RPAAs. Compared to previous studies, this first trial with more inclusive study showed that RPAAs could be a good candidate for deer production, particularly for improving antler quality. It is really a pioneer for further researches on different sexes, different stages of animals, for purposes of improvement of milk quality, meat quality, or for velvet antler production.

References

- Apollonio M, Di Vittorio I. 2004. Feeding and reproductive behaviour in fallow bucks (*Dama dama*). Naturwissenschaften **91**:579-584.
- Bao K, Wang K, Wang X, Zhang T, Liu H, Li G. 2017. Effect of dietary manganese supplementation on nutrient digestibility and production performance in male sika deer (*Cervus nippon*). Animal Science Journal 88:463-467.
- Bartos L, Bubenik GA, Kuzmova E. 2012. Endocrine relationships between rankrelated behavior and antler growth in deer. Frontiers in Bioscience **4**:1111-1126.
- Baxter BJ, Andrews RN, Barrell GK. 1999. Bone Turnove Associated with Antler Growth in Red Deer (*Cervus elaphus*). The Anatomical Record **256**:14–19.
- Bonjour JP, Ammann P, Chevalley T, Rizzoli R. 2001. Protein intake and bone growth. Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology **26**:S153-S166.
- Bugalho MN, Milne JA. 2003. The composition of the diet of red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) in a Mediterranean environment: a case of summer nutritional constraint? Forest Ecology and Management 181:23-29.
- Brown RB. 1992. The Biology of Deer. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Cappelli J, Garcia A, Ceacero F, Gomez S, Luna S, Gallego L, Gambin P, Landete-Castillejos T. 2015. Manganese Supplementation in Deer under Balanced Diet Increases Impact Energy and Contents in Minerals of Antler Bone Tissue. PLOS ONE 10:1-15.
- Cappelli J, Atzori AS, Ceacero F, Landete-Castillejos T, Cannas A, Gallego L, García Díaz AJ. 2017. Morphology, chemical composition, mechanical properties and structure in antler of Sardinian Red Deer (*Cervus elaphus corsicanus*). Hystrix, the Italian Journal of Mammalogy 28:110-112.
- Ceacero F, Landete-Castillejos T, García AJ, Estévez JA, Gaspar-López E, Gallego L. 2010. Effects of ad libitum mineral consumption in Iberian red deer hinds and calves. Animal Production Science 50:37-44.
- Ceacero F. 2016. Long or Heavy? Physiological Constraints in the Evolution of Antlers. Journal of Mammalian Evolution **23**:209-216.

- Chakanya C, Muchenje V, Hoffman LC. 2015. The fallow deer (*Dama* spp.); endangered or not? Der Zoologische Garten **85**:160-172.
- Chalupa W. 1975. Rumen by pass and protection of protein and amino acid. Journal of dairy science **58**:1198-1218.
- Chapman DI. 1975. Antlers–bones of contention. Mammal review 5:121-172.
- Chapman DI. 1981. Antler structure and function-a hypothesis. Journal of Biomechanics 14:195-197.
- Chapman NG, Chapman DI. 1980. The distribution of fallow deer: a worldwide review. Mammal Review **10**:61-138.
- Chen PY, Lin AY, Lin YS, Seki Y, Stokes AG, Peyras J, Olevsky EA, Meyers MA, McKittrick J. 2008. Structure and mechanical properties of selected biological materials. Journal of the Mechanical Behaviour of Biomedical Materials 1:208-226.
- Cowan RL, Hartsook EW, Whelan JB. 1968. Calcium-strontium metabolism in white tailed deer as related to age and antler growth. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine **129**:733-737.
- Currey JD, Landete-Castillejos T, Estevez J, Ceacero F, Olguin A, Garcia A, Gallego L. 2009. The mechanical properties of red deer antler bone when used in fighting. Journal of Experimental Biology 212:3985-3993.
- Czech Hydrometerological Institute (CHMI). 2015. Drought in Czech Republic in 2015. Available from http://portal.chmi.cz/ (assessed March 2018).
- Dobrowolska SA. 2002. Chemical composition of the red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) antlers, with a particular reference to the toxic metal contents. Zeitschrift für Jagdwissenschaft **48**:148-155.
- Dryden GM. 2011. Quantitative nutrition of deer: energy, protein and water. Animal Production Science **51**:292-302.
- Dryden GM. 2016. Nutrition of antler growth in deer. Animal Production Science **56**:962-970.

- Fennessy PF, Suttie JM. 1985. Antler growth: nutritional and endocrine factors. In: Fenessy PF, Drew KR, editors. Biology of Deer Production. Wellington: The Royal Society of Newzealand. pp. 239-250.
- Gambín P, Serrano MP, Gallego L, García A, Cappelli J, Ceacero F, Landete-Castillejos T. 2017. Does Cu supplementation affect the mechanical and structural properties and mineral content of red deer antler bone tissue? Animal 11:1312-1320.
- Gómez JA, Landete-Castillejos T, García AJ, Gallego L. 2006. Importance of growth during lactation on body size and antler development in the Iberian red deer (*Cervus elaphus hispanicus*). Livestock Science **105**:27-34.
- Gómez JA, Ceacero F, Landete-Castillejos T, Gaspar-López E, García AJ, Gallego L. 2012. Factors affecting antler investment in Iberian red deer. Animal Production Science 52:867–873.
- Gomez S, Garcia AJ, Luna S, Kierdorf U, Kierdorf H, Gallego L, Landete-Castillejos T. 2013. Labelling studies on cortical bone formation in the antlers of red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). Bone **52**:506-515.
- Goss RJ. 1969. Photoperiodic control of antler cycles in deer. I. Phase shift and frequency changes. Journal of Experimental Zoology **170**:311-324.
- Goss RJ. 1983. Deer Antlers: Regeneration, Function, and Evolution. London: Academic Press. INC, 316 p.
- Grace ND, Knowles SO. 2012. Trace element supplementation of livestock in New Zealand: meeting the challenges of free-range grazing systems. Veterinary Medicine International 2012:1-8.
- Grasman BT, Hellgren EC. 1993. Phosophorus Nutrition in White-Tailed Deer: Nutrient Balance, Physiological Responses, and Antler Growth. Ecology **74**:2279-2296.
- Hoffman LC, Wiklund E. 2006. Game and venison-meat for the modern consumer. Meat Science **74**:197-208.
- Hofmann RR. 1989. Evolutionary steps of ecophysiological adaptation and diversification of ruminants: a comparative view of their digestive system. Oecologia 78:443-457.

- Hove E, Elvehjem CA, Hart EB. 1940. The effect of Zinc on alkaline phosphatases. Journal of Biological Chemistry **134**:425-442.
- Huang J, Sun WL, Li C Y, Liu HL, Zhang TT, Bao K, Fan YY, Li GY, Wang KY.
 2015a. Effects of DL-methionine supplement on growth performance and amino acid digestion and plasma concentrations in sika deer calves (*Cervus nippon*).
 Animal Production Science 56:1002-1007.
- Huang J, Zhang TT, Kun B, Li GY, Wang KY. 2015b. Effect of supplementation of lysine and methionine on growth performance, nutrients digestibility and serum biochemical indices for growing sika deer (*Cervus nippon*) fed protein deficient diet. Italian Journal of Animal Science 14:61-65.
- Hyun TH, Barrett-Connor E, Milne DB. 2004. Zinc intakes and plasma concentration in men with osteoporosis: the rancho Bernardo study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 80:715-721.
- Jeon BT, Cheong SH, Kim DH, Park JH, Park PJ, Sung SH, Thomas DG, Kim KH, Moon SH. 2011. Effect of antler development stage on the chemical composition of velvet antler in elk (*Cervus elaphus canadensis*). Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences 24:1303-1313.
- Kierdorf U, Kierdorf H, Knuth S. 1995. Effects of castration on antler growth in fallow deer (*Dama dama* L.). Journal of Experimental Zoology **273**:33-43.
- Kierdorf U, Kierdorf H, Boyde A. 2000. Structure and mineralisation density of antler and pedicle bone in red deer (*Cervus elaphus* L.) exposed to different levels of environmental fluoride: a quantitative backscattered electron imaging study. The Journal of Anatomy **196**:71-83.
- Kierdorf U, Stoffels E, Stoffels D, Kierdorf H, Szuwart T, Clemen G. 2003. Histological studies of bone formation during pedicle restoration and early antler regeneration in roe deer and fallow deer. The Anatomical Record 273:741-751.
- Kierdorf U, Kierdorf H, Szuwart T. 2007. Deer antler regeneration: cells, concepts, and controversies. Journal of Morphology **268**:726-738.
- Kierdorf U, Kierdorf H. 2011. Deer antlers–a model of mammalian appendage regeneration: an extensive review. Gerontology **57**:53-65.

- Klein DR. 1992. The Status of Deer in a Changing World Environment. In: Brown RD, editor. The Biology of Deer. New York: Springer. pp. 3-12.
- Klemesrud MJ, Klopfenstein TJ, Lewis AJ. 2000. Metabolize methionine and lysine requirements of growing cattle. Journal of Animal Science **78**:199-206.
- Krauss S, Wagermaier W, Estevez JA, Currey JD, Fratzl P. 2011. Tubular frameworks guiding orderly bone formation in the antler of the red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). Journal of Structural Biology 175:457-464.
- Kung L, Rode LM. 1996. Amino acid metabolism in ruminants. Animal Feed Science and Technology 59:167-172.
- Landete-Castillejos T, Currey JD, Estevez JA, Gaspar-López E, Garcia A, Gallego L. 2007a. Influence of physiological effort of growth and chemical composition on antler bone mechanical properties. Bone 41:794-803.
- Landete-Castillejos T, Garcia A, Gallego L. 2007b. Body weight, early growth and antler size influence antler bone mineral composition of Iberian Red Deer (*Cervus elaphus hispanicus*). Bone **40**:230-235.
- Landete-Castillejos T, Estevez JA, Martínez A, Ceacero F, Garcia A, Gallego L. 2007c. Does chemical composition of antler bone reflect the physiological effort made to grow it? Bone **40**:1095-1102.
- Landete-Castillejos T, Currey JD, Estevez JA, Fierro Y, Calatayud A, Ceacero F, Garcia AJ, Gallego L. 2010. Do drastic weather effects on diet influence changes in chemical composition, mechanical properties and structure in deer antlers? Bone 47:815-825.
- Landete-Castillejos T, Currey JD, Ceacero F, García AJ, Gallego L, Gomez S. 2012a. Does nutrition affect bone porosity and mineral tissue distribution in deer antlers? The relationship between histology, mechanical properties and mineral composition. Bone 50:245-254.
- Landete-Castillejos T, Estevez JA, Ceacero F, Garcia AJ, Gallego L. 2012b. A review of factors affecting antler composition and mechanics. Frontiers in Bioscience E4:2328-2339.

- Leach RM, Muenster AM. 1962. Studies on the role of manganese in bone formation. 1. Effect upon the mucopolysaccharide content of chick bone. Journal of Nutrition 78:51-56.
- Lee SR, Jeon BT, Kim SJ, Kim MH, Lee SM, Moon SH. 2007. Effects of antler development stage on fatty acid, vitamin and GAGs contents of velvet antler in spotted deer (*Cervus nippon*). Asian Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences 20:1546-1550.
- Li C, Suttie JM. 2000. Histological studies of pedicle skin formation and its transformation to antler velvet in red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). The Anatomical Record **260**:62-71.
- Li C, Suttie JM. 2001. Deer antlerogenic periosteum: a piece of postnatally retained embryonic tissue? Anatomy and Embryology **204**:375-388.
- Li C, Suttie JM, Clark DE. 2004. Morphological observation of antler regeneration in red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). Journal of Morphology **262**:731-740.
- Lincoln GA. 1992. Biology of antlers. Journal of Zoology 226:517-528.
- Mattiello S, Mattiangeli V, Bianchi L, Carenzi C. 1997. Feeding and social behavior of fallow deer (*Dama dama* L.) under intensive pasture confinement. Journal of Animal Science 75:339-347.
- McDonald P, Edwards RA, Greenhalgh JFD, Morgan CA, Sinclair LA, Wilkinson RG. 2011. Animal nutrition. London: Pearson Education Limited. 693 p.
- Mendoza-Nazar P, Mendoza-Martínez GD, Herrera-Haro J, Ruiz-Sesma B, Bárcena-Gama R, Tarango-Arámbula L. 2012. Effect of ruminally protected methionine on body weight gain and growth of antlers in red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) in the humid tropics. Tropical Animal Health and Production 44:681-684.
- Merchen NR, Titgemeyer EC. 1992. Manipulation of amino acid supply to the growing ruminant. Journal of Animal Science **70**:3238-3247.
- Miller KV, Marchinton RL, Beckwith JR, Bush PB. 1985. Variations in density and chemical composition of white-tailed deer antlers. Journal of Mammalogy **66**:693-701.

- Moen RA, Pastor J, Cohen Y. 1999. Antler growth and extinction of Irish elk. Evolutionary Ecology Research 1:235-249.
- National Research Council. 2007. Committee on Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants. Nutrient requirements of small ruminants: sheep, goats, cervids, and new world camelids. Portland: National Academies Press. 362 p.
- Nordin BC. 1997. Calcium and osteoporosis. Nutrition 13:664-686.
- Nowicka W, Machoy Z, Gutowska I, Noceń I, Piotrowska S, Chlubek D. 2006. Contents of Calcium, Magnesium, and Phosphorus in Antlers and Cranial Bones of the European Red Deer (*Cervus Elaphus*) from Different Regions in Western Poland. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies 15:297-301.
- Opsahl W, Zeronian H, Ellison M, Lewis D, Rucker RB, Riggins RS. 1982. Role of copper in collagen cross-linking and its influence on selected mechanical properties of chick bone and tendon. Journal of Nutrition **112**:708–716.
- Pathak NN, Pattanaik AK, Patra RC, Arora BM. 2001. Mineral composition of antlers of three deer species reared in captivity. Small Ruminant Research **42**:61-65.
- Picavet PP, Balligand M. 2016. Organic and mechanical properties of Cervidae antlers: a review. Veterinary Research Communications **40**:141-147.
- Price JS, Allen S, Faucheux C, Althnaian T, Mount JG. 2005. Deer antlers: a zoological curiosity or the key to understanding organ regeneration in mammals? Journal of Anatomy 207:603-618.
- Puttoo M, Dryden GMcL, McCosker JE. 1998. Performance of weaned rusa (*Cervus timorensis*) deer given concentrates of varying protein content with sorghum hay. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture **38**:33–39.
- Richardson C. 2000. Factors affecting deer diets and nutrition. In: Robert R, editor. Wildlife Management Handbook II. Texas: The Texas AgriLife Extension Service. pp. B1-B6.
- Rosenberg HR. 1957. Amino Acids in Feeds, Methionine and Lysine Supplementation of Animal Feeds. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **5**:694-700.
- Rossi F, Maurizio M, Francesco M, Giovanna C, Gianfranco P. 2003. Rumen degradation and intestinal digestibility of rumen protected amino acids: comparison

between in situ and in vitro data. Animal Feed Science and Technology **108**:223-229.

- Schmidt KT, Stien A, Albon SD, Guinness FE. 2001. Antler length of yearling red deer is determined by population density, weather and early life-history. Oecologia 127:191-197.
- Schwab CG, Ordway RS, Whitehouse L. 2004. Amino Acid Balancing in the Context of MP and RUP Requirement. In: Proc. 15th Annual Florida Ruminant Nutrition Symposium. Gainesville, Florida. pp.10-25.
- Shipley LA. 1999. Grazers and browsers: how digestive morphology affects diet selection. Grazing Behavior of Livestock and Wildlife **70**:20-27.
- Stachowicz JB, Vannoni E, Pitcher BJ, Geffen E, McElligott AG. 2014. Acoustic divergence in the rut vocalization of Persian and European fallow deer. Journal of Zoology 292:1-9.
- Strause LG, Hegenauer J, Saltman P, Cone R, Resnick D. 1986. Effects of long-term dietary manganese and copper deficiency on rat skeleton. Journal of Nutrition 116:135–141.
- Sunwoo HH, Nakano T, Hudson RJ, Sim JS .1995. Chemical composition of antlers from wapiti (*Cervus elaphus*). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 43:2846-2849.
- Suttie JM, Gluckman PD, Butler JH, Fennessy PF, Corson ID, Laas FJ. 1985. Insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1) antler-stimulating hormone?. Endocrinology 116:846-848.
- Webster JR, Corson ID, Littlejohn RP. 2001. Effect of feeding supplements on the intake and live-weight gain of male red deer given silage during winter. Animal Science 73:555-561.
- Werner NY, Rabiei A, Saltz D, Daujat J, Baker K. 2015. Dama mesopotamica. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015: e.T6232A97672550. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/6232/0 (accessed March 2018).

- Wilson DE, Mittermeier RA. 2011. Handbook of the Mammals of the World. Vol. 2. Hoffed Mammals. Lynz Edicions, Barcelona.
- Wilson PR, Marjorie B.Orr, Key EL. 2014. Enzootic ataxia in Red deer. New Zealand Veterinary Journal **27**:252-254.
- Wu F, Li H, Jin L, Li X, Ma Y, You J, Li S, Xu Y. 2013. Deer antler base as a traditional Chinese medicine: a review of its traditional uses, chemistry and pharmacology. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 145:403-415.

Appendices

List of the Appendices:

- Appendix 1. Composition of grass silage, pasture and barley in 2015
- Appendix 2. Map of study site
- Appendix 3. Mechanical analysis
- Appendix 4. The different effects of RPAAs on external antler characteristics (antler weight, antler length, antler burr perimeter)

Appendix 1: Composition of grass silage, pasture and barley in 2015

Table A1. Nutritional composition of the grass silage, pasture and barleysupplemented to the animals in dry matter basis.

Composition (%)	Barley	Pasture*	Grass silage**
Crude protein	11.27	12.74	11.16
Crude fat	2.44	1.91	2.06
Crude fibre	6.68	31.61	34.19
Ash	2.51	8.49	9.18
Nitrogen-free compounds	77.10	45.25	43.44
Lignin	0.83	5.00	6.55
Acid detergent fibre (ADF)	7.26	35.23	21.91
Neutral detergent fibre (NDF)	30.40	65.42	30.32

* Mean of three samples collected and the beginning, middle and end of the experiment during the first year.

** Grass silage was shortly used only during the winter time in the second year of the experiments.

Appendix 2: Map of study site



Figure A1. Map of experimental place.

Appendix 3: Mechanical analysis



Figure A2. Process of three-point bending test until the specimen cannot resist (Photo: Jamil Cappelli).



Figure A3. Process of impact test for measuring impact energy absorption to break antler (Photo: Jamil Cappelli).

Appendix 4: The different effects of RPAAs on external antler characteristics (antler weight, antler length, antler burr perimeter)



Figure A4. Antler weight (MEAN±SE) of all experimental groups in both experiments. (P-Pasture; B-Barley; L-Lysine; M-Methionine).



Figure A5. Antler lengths (MEAN±SE) of all experimental groups in both experiments. (P-Pasture; B-Barley; L-Lysine; M-Methionine).



Figure A6. Antler burr perimeters (MEAN±SE) of all experimental groups in both experiments. Tukey test highlighted significant differences between the groups P+B and L9+M3 (see Table 4 for more details). (P-Pasture;

B-Barley; L-Lysine; M-Methionine).